
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

LILLIE ANN LOPEZ AND JANA §
YOUNG, §
Plaintiffs, §

§
vs. § CIVIL ACTION NO. ____________

§ JURY TRIAL
CITY OF HOUSTON, PETER BROWN, §
SUE LOVELL, MELISSA NORIEGA, §
RONALD GREEN, JOLANDA JONES, §
TONI LAWRENCE, JARVIS JOHNSON, §
ANNE CLUTTERBUCK, §
WANDA ADAMS, MIKE SULLIVAN, §
M.J. KAHN, PAM HOLM, §
JAMES G. RODRIGUEZ, BILL WHITE, §
AND ANNISE D. PARKER, §
Defendants. §

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

COME NOW LILLIE ANN LOPEZ and JANA YOUNG, Plaintiffs in the above 

styled and numbered cause, complaining of CITY OF HOUSTON, PETER BROWN, 

SUE LOVELL, MELISSA NORIEGA, RONALD GREEN, JOLANDA JONES, TONI 

LAWRENCE, JARVIS JOHNSON, ANNE CLUTTERBUCK, WANDA ADAMS, 

MIKE SULLIVAN, M.J. KAHN, PAM HOLM, JAMES G. RODRIGUEZ, BILL 

WHITE, and ANNISE D. PARKER (collectively, “DEFENDANTS”) and would 

respectfully show the Court as follows:

I.
INTRODUCTION

1. This action is filed pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 

U.S.C. § 1973c, as amended by Public Law 109-246, 120 Stat. 577 on July 27, 2006, and 
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officially published on the United States Government Printing Office Access website on 

August 24, 2006 (hereinafter cited as § 5 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c). This action seeks declaratory and injunctive relief to address the failure to add 

two single-member City Council districts in compliance with a preclearance plan 

pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, by the Defendant, 

CITY OF HOUSTON.

II.
JURISDICTION & VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to § 5 of the Voting 

Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343(3) and (4) and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2201.  Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. '1391(b)(1) because all of the 

defendants reside in this district and in this state. Furthermore, venue is proper in this 

district under 28 U.S.C. '1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to this claim occurred in this district.

III.
PARTIES

3. Plaintiff LILLIE ANN LOPEZ is a citizen of the United States and is a 

registered voter living in the City of Houston, Harris County, Texas.  Plaintiff is also a 

member of a class consisting of those citizens of Spanish heritage who are eighteen years 

and older and eligible to vote and those citizens who are registered voters whose rights 

under § 5 of the 1965 Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, have and continue to be 

violated as the result of DEFENDANTS' actions.

4. Plaintiff JANA YOUNG is a citizen of the United States and is a registered

voter living in the City of Houston, Harris County, Texas.  Plaintiff is also a member of a 
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class consisting of those citizens of African American heritage who are eighteen years 

and older and eligible to vote and those citizens who are registered voters whose rights 

under § 5 of the 1965 Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, have and continue to be 

violated as the result of DEFENDANTS' actions.

5. Defendant CITY OF HOUSTON is a governmental entity organized 

pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas and is a political subdivision subject to the 

requirements of § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c.  The City of Houston 

may be served by serving Anna Russell, City Secretary, at the Office of the City 

Secretary, City Hall Annex, 901 Bagby, Room P101, Houston, Texas 77002.

6. Defendant PETER BROWN is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  He may be served at his office at City 

Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002 or his 

residence.

7. Defendant SUE LOVELL is an individual residing in Harris County, Texas 

and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her office at City Hall 

located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002 or her 

residence.

8. Defendant MELISSA NORIEGA is an individual residing in Harris 

County, Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her 

office at City Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 

77002 or her residence.

9. Defendant RONALD GREEN is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  He may be served at his office at City 
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Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or his 

residence.

10. Defendant JOLANDA JONES is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her office at 

City Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or 

her residence.

11. Defendant TONI LAWRENCE is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her office at 

City Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or 

her residence.

12. Defendant JARVIS JOHNSON is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  He may be served at his office at City 

Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or his 

residence.

13. Defendant ANNE CLUTTERBUCK is an individual residing in Harris 

County, Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her 

office at City Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 

77002, or her residence.

14. Defendant WANDA ADAMS is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her office at 

City Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or 

her residence.



5

15. Defendant MIKE SULLIVAN is an individual residing in Harris County, 

Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  He may be served at his office at City 

Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or his 

residence.

16. Defendant M.J. KAHN is an individual residing in Harris County, Texas 

and a member of the Houston City Council.  He may be served at his office at City Hall 

located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or his 

residence.

17. Defendant PAM HOLM is an individual residing in Harris County, Texas 

and a member of the Houston City Council.  She may be served at her office at City Hall 

located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, or her 

residence.

18. Defendant JAMES G. RODRIGUEZ is an individual residing in Harris 

County, Texas and a member of the Houston City Council.  He may be served at his 

office at City Hall located at 900 Bagby, City Hall Annex, First Floor, Houston, Texas 

77002, or his residence.

19. Defendant BILL WHITE is an individual residing in Harris County, Texas 

and the Mayor of the City of Houston.  He may be served at the Office of the Mayor, 901 

Bagby, Houston, Texas 77002, or his residence.

20. Defendant ANNISE D. PARKER is an individual residing in Harris 

County, Texas and the Controller of the City of Houston.  She may be served at the 

Office of the Controller, 901 Bagby, Houston, Texas 77002, or her residence.

IV.
FACTS
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21. Defendant CITY OF HOUSTON conducts elections in Houston, Texas.

22. Defendants PETER BROWN, SUE LOVELL, MELISSA NORIEGA, 

RONALD GREEN, JOLANDA JONES, TONI LAWRENCE, JARVIS JOHNSON, 

ANNE CLUTTERBUCK, WANDA ADAMS, MIKE SULLIVAN, M.J. KAHN, PAM 

HOLM, and JAMES G. RODRIGUEZ are members of CITY OF HOUSTON’S City 

Council.

23. Defendant BILL WHITE is Mayor of CITY OF HOUSTON.

24. Defendant ANNISE D. PARKER is Controller of CITY OF HOUSTON.

25. Defendant CITY OF HOUSTON is a covered jurisdiction under § 5 of the 

Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c and must secure approval or preclearance before 

enacting or seeking to administer any voting qualifications or prerequisites to voting, or 

standards, practices, or procedures with respect to voting that are different from those that 

were in force or effect on November 1, 1972, the date upon which § 5 coverage for 

Defendant began.  A voting qualification or prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice, 

or procedure subject to approval pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c, is hereinafter referred to as a "change(s) affecting voting."

26. A covered jurisdiction is a political subdivision and a political subunit 

subject to the preclearance requirements of § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c. A covered jurisdiction can secure § 5 preclearance from either the United States 

Attorney General or the United States District Court for the District of Columbia. Under 

the administrative proceeding before the United States Attorney General or the judicial 

proceeding seeking a declaratory judgment before the United States District Court for the 

District of Columbia, the covered jurisdiction must demonstrate that the proposed change 
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affecting voting does not have the purpose and will not have the effect of denying or 

abridging the right to vote on account of race or color, or membership in a language 

minority group.  Once preclearance has been obtained the failure to comply with the 

order is illegal under the Voting Rights Act. Absent compliance with preclearance 

pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, the change affecting voting 

cannot be implemented or enforced in any elections. 28 C.F.R. § 51.10.

27. In 1979, Defendant CITY OF HOUSTON agreed to a preclearance plan 

with the Department of Justice and incorporated the terms of that agreement, as required, 

in the City of Houston Charter.  The preclearance plan provided for nine City Council 

members to be elected from single-member districts, and six to be chosen at large

including the mayor.  Additionally, CITY OF HOUSTON agreed to create two more 

single-member City Council Districts J and K once the population of the city reached 2.1 

million persons.  CITY OF HOUSTON’s population reached 2.1 million persons in 2006, 

yet DEFENDANTS have not created the additional single-member J and K districts.  In 

fact, CITY OF HOUSTON estimated the population to be 2,231,335, as of January 1, 

2007.  See “Exhibit A” attached hereto and incorporated by reference.  Further, according 

to the U.S. Census Bureau, CITY OF HOUSTON’s population was 2,208,180 as of July 

1, 2007. See “Exhibit B” attached hereto and incorporated by reference.

28. This Complaint alleges that the results of municipal elections held in 

affected jurisdictions after 2006, when the CITY OF HOUSTON reached a population of 

2.1 million people, are void and unenforceable because they fail to reflect the addition of 

the two single-member City Council districts agreed to by CITY OF HOUSTON and 

pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c.  Furthermore, any future 
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elections similarly failing to reflect CITY OF HOUSTON’s obligations under § 5 of the 

Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, are void and unenforceable.  

29. Upon information and belief, Defendant CITY OF HOUSTON has 

adopted, approved, and implemented election results that fall outside of their 

preclearance agreement.  Further, DEFENDANTS are attempting to circumvent their 

preclearance obligations by proposing a City Council Request for Action Item (see

“Exhibit C” attached hereto and incorporated by reference) to be considered next week, 

without the required preclearance from the Department of Justice for that very agenda 

item in that it affects the voting rights of a significant portion of the population of the city 

of Houston and is in itself another violation of § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c. This is an unusual attempt to roll back the official census numbers of Houston to 

1,953,631, in spite of official communications to the CITY OF HOUSTON in 2006 by 

the U.S. Census Bureau accepting the CITY OF HOUSTON’s very own challenge to 

increase the number to 2,076,189.  See “Exhibit D” attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference.

30. Plaintiffs seek an Order enjoining DEFENDANTS from engaging in any 

elections conducted for the CITY OF HOUSTON and any elections requiring voter 

approval of any issues and measures related to the governance of CITY OF HOUSTON 

until additional representatives specified in paragraphs eight (8) and (9) of this Complaint

have been added, and any other illegal activities ceased, so that CITY OF HOUSTON 

comports with § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c.

V.
REQUEST TO CONVENE A THREE JUDGE COURT
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31. Pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, the convening  

of a Three Judge Court is requested.

VI.
CLAIM FOR RELIEF

32. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 21 through 30 above and incorporate the 

same as though fully set forth herein.

33. Plaintiffs allege that the failure of DEFENDANTS to fulfill their 

preclearance obligations pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c

specified in paragraphs twenty five (25) through thirty (30) of this Complaint constitutes 

a violation of § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c and renders the 

DEFENDANTS’ elections since 2006, or the date the population reached 2.1 million 

persons, void and unenforceable. 

VII.
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

34. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 21 through 30 above and incorporate the 

same as though fully set forth herein.

35. This is also an action for declaratory, preliminary and permanent injunctive 

relief sought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, and Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 57 and 65. 

Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the failure of DEFENDANTS to fulfill their preclearance 

obligations that are specified in paragraphs twenty five (25) through thirty (30) of this 

Complaint constitutes a violation of § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, 

thereby making injunctive relief appropriate. Unless enjoined, DEFENDANTS will 

continue with the enforcement and implementation of legally void and unenforceable 

elections affecting the rights of language, racial, and ethnic minority groups residing in
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the city of Houston, Harris County, Texas in continued violation of § 5 of the Voting 

Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c.

VIII.
BASIS FOR EQUITABLE RELIEF

36. Plaintiffs have no plain, adequate, or complete remedy at law to redress the 

wrongs alleged herein, and this suit for declaratory and injunctive relief is their only 

means of securing adequate redress from the unlawful practices of DEFENDANTS. 

Plaintiffs will continue to suffer irreparable injury from the acts, policies, and practices of 

DEFENDANTS set forth herein unless enjoined by this Court.

IX.
PRAYER

37. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that this Court enter judgment 

granting Plaintiffs:

a. A declaration that DEFENDANTS' failure to conduct voting in 

compliance with preclearance obligations within the meaning of § 5 

of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, renders 

elections legally void and unenforceable absent the requisite § 5 

preclearance compliance;

b. A permanent injunction restraining and enjoining 

DEFENDANTS and their officers, agents, employees, attorneys, 

and successors in office and all other persons in active concert and 

participation from any further actions violating preclearance 

obligations pursuant to § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c;
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c. An Order enjoining any elections conducted for Defendant 

CITY OF HOUSTON, any elections requiring voter approval of any 

issues or measures related to the governance of CITY OF 

HOUSTON, and/or any certifications or other actions to finalize the 

results of said elections until the DEFENDANTS have fulfilled their 

preclearance obligations under § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 1973c;

d. An Order granting Plaintiffs their costs of court, related non-

taxable expenses, necessary litigation expenses, and reasonable 

attorneys' fees to be adjudged against the DEFENDANTS as 

provided under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973 1(e) and 1988;

e. An Order retaining jurisdiction to render such further and 

additional Orders as the court may, from time to time, deem 

appropriate;

f. An Order granting such other additional relief at law or in equity 

as may be deemed appropriate.
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  Respectfully submitted, 

By:_________________________________
Vidal G. Martinez
State Bar Number: 13144650
USDC/SDTX Federal Bar Number:  
4190
Carroll G. Robinson
State Bar Number: 17086900
USDC/SDTX Federal Bar Number: 
15467
1001 McKinney, Suite 1800
Houston, Texas 77002-6417
Telephone: (713) 222-6025 
Facsimile: (713) 221-1212
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS
LILLIE ANN LOPEZ AND JANA 
YOUNG


